FILED
Jul 06, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No.93335.0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 72818-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FILED

JUL 11 2016

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

JOHN NORTON and KRISTINE NORTON, individually, and derivatively on behalf of LARCO-BOLIVAR INVESTMENTS, LLC, and SHELL LA PAZ, LLC; NORTHLAND CAPITAL LLC, individually, and derivatively on behalf of NDG-BRYCON, LLC; and P.R.E. ACQUISITIONS, LLC,

Petitioners,

V.

GRAHAM & DUNN, P.C.,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210 1619 8th Avenue North

C.	Statement of the Case		
	1.	The Nortons lost over \$10 million to Jose Nino de Guzman, who orchestrated an elaborate Ponzi scheme with the active assistance of his counsel, Graham & Dunn.	
	2.	After learning of Graham & Dunn's active involvement in de Guzman's scheme in July 2012, the Nortons sued Graham & Dunn in April 2013	
	3.	The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court, holding that the discovery rule did not toll the limitations period on the Nortons' claims	
D.	Argument Why Review Should Be Granted7		
	1.	The Court of Appeals decision confuses the standard for establishing an attorney's liability for aiding a client's fraud. (RAP 13.4(b)(4))7	
	2.	The Court of Appeals erroneously imputed to the Nortons the knowledge of an attorney they spoke with once and who was subject to "irreconcilable conflicts of interest." (RAP 13.4(b)(4))	
E.	Conch	usion20	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Federal Cases Page(s)
Global Enterprises, LLC v. Montgomery Purdue Blankenship & Austin PLLC, 52 F. Supp. 3d 1162 (W.D. Wash. 2014)
Morganroth & Morganroth v. Norris, McLaughlin & Marcus, P.C., 331 F.3d 406 (3d Cir. 2003)13
State Cases
1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 146 P.3d 423 (2006)6, 9, 19
Chem-Age Indus., Inc. v. Glover, 2002 S.D. 122, 652 N.W.2d 756 (2002)9
Davison v. Hewitt, 6 Wn.2d 131, 106 P.2d 733 (1940)11
Dietz v. Doe, 131 Wn.2d 835, 935 P.2d 611 (1997)17
Disciplinary Proceeding Against Botimer, 166 Wn.2d 759, 214 P.3d 133 (2009)12, 18
Eurycleia Partners, LP v. Seward & Kissel, LLP, 46 A.D.3d 400, 849 N.Y.S.2d 510 (2007), aff d, 12 N.Y.3d 553, 910 N.E.2d 976 (2009)9
Haller v. Wallis, 89 Wn.2d 539, 573 P.2d 1302 (1978)17
Hines v. Data Line Sys., Inc., 53 Wn. App. 283, 766 P.2d 1109 (1989), reversed on other grounds by 114 Wn.2d 127, 787 P.2d 8 (1990)14
Martin v. Abbott Labs., 102 Wn.2d 581, 689 P.2d 368 (1984)8

McKasson v. State, 55 Wn. App. 18, 776 P.2d 971, rev. denied, 113 Wn.2d 1026 (1989)
Mitchell v. Kitsap County, 59 Wn. App. 177, 797 P.2d 516 (1990)17
Nelson v. Schubert, 98 Wn. App. 754, 994 P.2d 225 (2000)12
Price v. State, 96 Wn. App. 604, 980 P.2d 302 (1999), rev. denied, 139 Wn.2d 1018 (2000)12
Spinner v. Nutt, 417 Mass. 549, 631 N.E.2d 542 (1994)9
Trask v. Butler, 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994)8
Statutes
RCW 4.16.0809
RCW 21.20.4309
Rules and Regulations
17 CFR § 230.50314
RAP 13.47, 15-16
RPC 1.28
RPC 1.72, 18
RPC 1.92, 18
Other Authorities
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 876 (1979)8, 12

A. Identity of Petitioners and Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioners John and Kristine Norton individually and derivatively on behalf of Larco-Bolivar Investments, LLC; Shell La Paz, LLC; Northland Capital LLC; NDG-Brycon, LLC; and P.R.E. Acquisitions, LLC (collectively "the Nortons") lost over \$10 million in a Ponzi scheme perpetrated and concealed by the client of respondent Graham & Dunn, PC. The firm lent substantial assistance to Jose Nino de Guzman – the firm's client and the scheme's architect. The Nortons did not – and could not – learn of Graham & Dunn's active role in the scheme until other investors, hostile to the Nortons, filed a lawsuit in 2012 lawsuit that revealed critical evidence.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the Nortons' claims on summary judgment, holding that the Nortons either knew of their claims, or should have, by September 2009, shortly after de Guzman's Ponzi scheme was revealed. The Court of Appeals denied the Nortons' timely motion to publish its April 18, 2016 decision (Appendix A) on June 6, 2016 (Appendix B).

B. Issues Presented for Review

1. Did the Court of Appeals improperly conflate the standards for imposing liability against the party committing a fraud and against the party's lawyers for aiding and abetting the fraud, by

holding that the Nortons had notice of their claims against the lawyers who represented the architect of a Ponzi scheme before the Nortons discovered that the lawyers gave their client substantial assistance in fostering and then concealing the fraud?

2. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously impute to the Nortons the knowledge of an attorney they had spoken with once, where that attorney was duty-bound under RPC 1.7 and 1.9 not to share any knowledge with the Nortons because he owed his primary allegiance to an investor committee with whom the Nortons had "irreconcilable conflicts of interest?"

C. Statement of the Case.

 The Nortons lost over \$10 million to Jose Nino de Guzman, who orchestrated an elaborate Ponzi scheme with the active assistance of his counsel, Graham & Dunn.

In 2008, John Norton ("Norton"), his wife Kristine, and their investment companies, Northland Capital, LLC, and P.R.E. Acquisitions, LLC, invested over \$10 million with Jose Nino de Guzman ostensibly for the purchase and development of real estate in Peru. (CP 490-93) De Guzman defrauded the Nortons and numerous other investors through his companies NDG Investment Group, LLC, and Grupo Innova, SA, as well as LLCs formed for the alleged development projects, diverting funds from later investors to

pay off earlier investors and to fund his extravagant lifestyle. (CP 4, 466-67, 519) Graham & Dunn, serving as counsel for de Guzman and his companies, knew of de Guzman's scheme and substantially aided it by advising de Guzman how to conceal his fraud from investors and regulators, and by drafting documents it knew contained false representations, *e.g.*, LLC agreements and securities filings. (CP 283, 341, 417, 508-09, 518-19)

De Guzman's scheme started unraveling in early January 2009, when Norton and his partner in P.R.E., William Prater, confronted de Guzman about an unauthorized purchase of property, and arranged for a meeting with de Guzman and his Graham & Dunn attorney, Nicolas Drader. (CP 493-94, 511-12) After the meeting, Drader drafted a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) that limited de Guzman's authority and required him to engage an accounting firm and forfeit his ten percent interest in P.R.E. (CP 124-26, 494)

By June of 2009, Norton and other investors had discovered de Guzman's fraud. (CP 139-44, 153, 495) In June 2009, Norton discussed with a "Steering Committee" of defrauded investors their common goal of coordinating a litigation strategy for recovering investments. (CP 495) Norton sat in on an interview conducted by the Steering Committee with attorney Stephen Sirianni before the

Committee retained him – the one and only time Norton and Sirianni spoke. (CP 496) Norton paid part of Sirianni's fee to perform a preliminary investigation of the Ponzi scheme, focusing primarily on the role of U.S. Bank, whose employees profited from de Guzman's scheme. (CP 496)

Conflicts immediately arose between the Nortons, who had lost far more than any other investor, and the Steering Committee. Those conflicts were reflected in a July 2, 2009, email in which Steering Committee investors stressed "Per our legal counsel: As to Norton, no one is giving up rights [against him]" and that "Norton could . . . argue that some of the LLC investors money is his" – *i.e.*, that recovery by Norton would come at the expense of Steering Committee investors. (CP 999)

In July 2009, Graham & Dunn produced to lawyers representing whistleblowing NDG employees documents, which were forwarded to Sirianni; Norton never saw these documents because he was asked to leave the Steering Committee. (CP 156, 169, 171, 188-89, 496, 715) On August 25, 2009, the Nortons were refunded their share of Sirianni's fee and on September 9, 2009, the Steering Committee sent a letter confirming Norton's departure because of "irreconcilable conflicts of interests . . . and our inability

to resolve them." (CP 500-02) A year later, a Steering Committee attorney accused Norton of criminal conduct as a "business partner" and "coconspirator" of de Guzman. (CP 1325)

2. After learning of Graham & Dunn's active involvement in de Guzman's scheme in July 2012, the Nortons sued Graham & Dunn in April 2013.

In July 2012, fourteen lawsuits were filed against Graham & Dunn by NDG investors, including a lawsuit by former Steering Committee investors called the "Aggen suit." (CP 497, 517-54) The Aggen suit relied heavily on internal Graham & Dunn documents, including a previously undisclosed "smoking gun" November 2008 email in which Graham & Dunn counseled NDG that it would be a "HUGE issue" if its "violation of various state and federal securities laws" were known and thus, in order to avoid letting the "cat[] out of the bag," NDG should conceal its violations by paying for the silence of an employee with intimate knowledge of de Guzman and NDG's fraud. (CP 518-19 (emphasis in original)) The Aggen complaint also alleged that in the January 2009 meeting "NDG, de Guzman, and Graham & Dunn were negotiating to pay off the P.R.E. investors." (CP 542)

Norton first learned that Graham & Dunn had knowingly assisted de Guzman in concealing the Ponzi scheme when the *Aggen*

complaint was filed. The firm had consistently denied any wrongdoing and had concealed critical documentary evidence, omitting the November 2008 email from its July 2009 production. (CP 497, 549; see also CP 548 ("Graham & Dunn had been actively concealing NDG's misrepresentations from investors and the authorities")) Moreover, unbeknownst to the Nortons, Graham & Dunn had secretly negotiated an agreement with the Aggen plaintiffs to toll the three-year statute of limitations. (CP 565)

The Nortons filed suit against Graham & Dunn on April 11, 2013, relying on the revelations in *Aggen*. (CP 1-29) The Nortons' claims included aiding and abetting fraud and misrepresentation, and violations of the Securities Act of Washington. (CP 19-26)

3. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court, holding that the discovery rule did not toll the limitations period on the Nortons' claims.

The trial court dismissed the Nortons' claims on summary judgment as barred by the three-year statute of limitations. The trial court rejected the Nortons' argument that their claims were timely under the discovery rule, "under which the cause of action accrues when the plaintiff discovers, or in the reasonable exercise of diligence should discover, the elements of the cause of action." (CP 717-28)

See 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 575-

76, ¶ 10, 146 P.3d 423 (2006).). The trial court stated that "the Nortons' statutes of limitations [were] triggered no later than September 2009." [Order at 8]

On April 18, 2016, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in an unpublished decision, and on June 6, 2016, it denied the Nortons' motion to publish. (App. A-B) The Court of Appeals held that the Nortons discovered, or should have discovered, their claims by September 2009, because (1) the Nortons knew they had been defrauded by de Guzman during Graham & Dunn's representation of de Guzman, and (2) because Sirianni briefly represented the Steering Committee, and thus the Nortons had constructive knowledge of the documents sent to Sirianni. (App. A 12-17)

D. Argument Why Review Should Be Granted.

1. The Court of Appeals decision confuses the standard for establishing an attorney's liability for aiding a client's fraud. (RAP 13.4(b)(4))

The Court of Appeals erroneously held that because the Nortons had knowledge of their claims against de Guzman, they also had knowledge of their claims against his lawyer, conflating the distinct standards for imposing liability on a party guilty of fraud and an attorney who represents that party. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the public should have clear

guidance on when a fraud victim will be deemed to have knowledge of a claim against an attorney.

It is an unfortunate reality that an attorney's provision of legal services may unwittingly assist a client's fraud or other wrongdoing. Attorneys are professionally obliged to advise those who may be guilty of wrongdoing, RPC 1.2(d) and Comments 9-10, and this Court has sharply limited an attorney's liability to non-clients for their actions in the representation of a client. See Trask v. Butler, 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994) (establishing multi-factor test to determine whether attorney owes duty to non-client); see also McKasson v. State, 55 Wn. App. 18, 29, 776 P.2d 971 ("an attorney acting within the scope of his employment as attorney is immune from liability to third persons for actions arising out of that professional relationship") (quotation omitted), rev. denied, 113 Wn.2d 1026 (1989).

Thus courts require more than unwitting assistance to impose liability on attorneys for the tortious conduct of their clients and do so only when an attorney "knows that [their client's] conduct constitutes a breach of duty and gives substantial assistance or encouragement" to the client in breaching that duty. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 876 (1979) (cited with approval in $Martin\ v$.

Abbott Labs., 102 Wn.2d 581, 596, 689 P.2d 368 (1984)). This Court should clarify that a non-client must have notice that an attorney knew of the client's misconduct and substantially aided it before the statute of limitations begins to run on the non-client's claim against the wrongdoer's attorney.

The three-year statute of limitations on the Nortons' claims² only begins to run "when the plaintiff discovers, or in the reasonable exercise of diligence should discover, the elements of the cause of action." 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship, 158 Wn.2d at 575-76, ¶ 10. The Court of Appeals confused the distinct elements for client and attorney liability by repeatedly equating Norton's knowledge of <u>de</u>

Other courts refuse to impose liability on attorneys stemming from their client's wrongdoing unless the plaintiff can meet the requirements of the Restatement. See, e.g., Spinner v. Nutt, 417 Mass. 549, 631 N.E.2d 542, 546 (1994) ("An allegation that the trustees acted under the legal advice of the defendants, without more, is insufficient to give rise to a claim that an attorney is responsible to third persons for the fraudulent acts of his clients."); Chem-Age Indus., Inc. v. Glover, 2002 S.D. 122, ¶ 44, 652 N.W.2d 756, 774 (2002) ("The substantial assistance requirement carries with it a condition that the lawyer must actively participate in the breach of a fiduciary duty."); Eurycleia Partners, LP v. Seward & Kissel, LLP, 46 A.D.3d 400, 402, 849 N.Y.S.2d 510, 512 (2007) ("Plaintiffs fail to allege any facts from which it could be inferred that [the attorneys] not only had actual knowledge of a breach of fiduciary duty by the fund but also rendered 'substantial,' rather than inadvertent, assistance to the fund"), aff'd, 12 N.Y.3d 553, 910 N.E.2d 976 (2009).

² RCW 21.20.430(4)(b) (securities fraud); RCW 4.16.080(4) (negligent misrepresentation, aiding and abetting fraud, and conspiracy to commit fraud); RCW 4.16.080(2) (breach of fiduciary duty and professional malpractice).

Guzman's fraud with knowledge of wrongdoing by Graham & Dunn, mistakenly holding that "the statute of limitations began [to run] when Norton discovered or should have discovered . . . the fraud." (App. A 12 (emphasis added))

For example, the Court of Appeals relied on a March 11, 2009, email from Prater to Norton stating de Guzman was "running a financial house of cards" and thus reasoned that the Nortons had notice of their claims against Graham & Dunn because Norton had discovered "the inappropriate nature of Mr. de Guzman's business dealings in both the U.S. and Peru." (App. A 13; see also App. A 17 ("The undisputed record shows Norton knew in March 2009 that he had lost more than \$9 million in a Ponzi scheme")) While the Nortons discovered that they had been damaged by de Guzman's fraud in the spring of 2009, they did not learn of Graham & Dunn's active role in that fraud until July 2012.

The Court of Appeals erroneously held that the Nortons knew they had claims against Graham & Dunn because they listed Graham & Dunn along with virtually every business associate of de Guzman as potential "recovery opportunities." (CP 148-49; App. A 13 & n.20) Had the Nortons believed there was a reasonable basis for suing Graham & Dunn, they would have done so, just as they sued other

aiders and abettors whom they initially listed as potential "recovery opportunities." (CP 497) The fact that the Nortons earlier pursued others on that list confirms that they diligently and aggressively sought to recover their losses from those business associates the Nortons knew had actually aided and abetted de Guzman. That they included Graham & Dunn on their list but did not immediately sue the firm underscores that while Norton was aware of de Guzman's fraud and the potential liability of others, he did not believe he had a basis for suing Graham & Dunn until after the *Aggen* lawsuit was filed.

The Court of Appeals effectively held that if a defrauded party even suspects an attorney may have aided his client's fraud, the client is on notice of claims against the attorney, regardless of whether that party possesses any evidence of the attorney's active assistance, further blurring the line between claims against a client and those against an attorney. "Mere suspicion of wrong is not discovery of the fraud, nor is it a clue" that must be followed to assert a claim against the perpetrator of the fraud. *Davison v. Hewitt*, 6 Wn.2d 131, 137,

106 P.2d 733 (1940).³ And "mere suspicion of fraud" is certainly insufficient to put a victim on notice that the perpetrator's lawyer actively aided the wrongdoing. For instance, in the *Aggen* suit, the trial court held that Graham & Dunn was entitled to a "qualified privilege" that required the plaintiffs to establish the firm "acted outside the scope of the attorney-client relationship" before it could be liable "for assisting a person's breach of duty to a third party." (CP 515, 619-26, 871 (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 876))

The Court of Appeals cited evidence available to the Nortons in 2009 showing, at most, Graham & Dunn's unwitting, not knowing, assistance of de Guzman's fraud – evidence that *supports* the Nortons' belief they had no basis for suing Graham & Dunn. For instance, the fact that Graham & Dunn continued to draft organizational documents and "do new deals" (App. A 7, 13) is entirely innocent *unless* one also knows that Graham & Dunn did so with knowledge of de Guzman's fraud. *See Disciplinary Proceeding Against Botimer* 166 Wn.2d 759, 772, ¶27, 214 P.3d 133 (2009)

³ See also Price v. State, 96 Wn. App. 604, 980 P.2d 302 (1999) (parents did not have notice of their claims against DSHS despite suspicion that DSHS had failed to supply information they requested), rev. denied, 139 Wn.2d 1018 (2000); Nelson v. Schubert, 98 Wn. App. 754, 762, 994 P.2d 225 (2000) (plaintiff's "belief that [defendant] had killed her daughter had no evidentiary value" without supporting evidence and thus did not begin running of limitations period).

(attorney's signature on false tax return is not perjury unless attorney knows return is false at the time he signs it); Morganroth & Morganroth v. Norris, McLaughlin & Marcus, P.C., 331 F.3d 406, 412 (3d Cir. 2003) (claim against attorneys could proceed because plaintiff alleged attorneys "knew th[e] deed to be false when they prepared it"). The Aggen court denied summary judgment to Graham & Dunn only because a reasonable jury could find the firm continued to draft documents "while knowing of NDG activities." (CP 865 (emphasis added))

The Court of Appeals also confused the import of emails produced to Sirianni in July 2009, all of which show Graham & Dunn urging its client to comply with applicable securities laws by supplying missing information. (App. A 13) For example, a May 21, 2008, email from Drader to a NDG employee states "[d]ue to lack of receipt of info from NDG.... you are in violation of your obligations under the securities laws." (CP 686, cited at App. A 14) The Court of Appeals spends three pages quoting these emails, but it nowhere explains how they put the Nortons on notice that Graham & Dunn knew de Guzman was stealing investor funds or that it stepped outside its legitimate role as an advisor by actively assisting de Guzman's theft. Further, "no authority . . . imputes liability upon

counsel when an injury is caused primarily by the client's failure to follow the attorney's advice." Hines v. Data Line Sys., Inc., 53 Wn. App. 283, 292, 766 P.2d 1109 (1989), reversed on other grounds by 114 Wn.2d 127, 787 P.2d 8 (1990).

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