Aug 05, 2016, 2:10 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court Case No. 93335-9
Court of Appeals Case No. 72818-1-I

**SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

**JOHN NORTON AND KRISTINE NORTON, INDIVIDUALLY
AND DERIVATIVELY ON BEHALF OF, LARCO-BOLIVAR
INVESTMENT, LLC AND SHELL LA PAZ, LLC; NORTHLAND
CAPITAL, LLC, INDIVIDUALLY, AND DERIVATIVELY
ON BEHALF OF NDG-BRYCON, LLC, AND
P.R.E. ACQUISITIONS, LLC,
Petitioner,**

v.

**GRAHAM & DUNN, P.C., a Washington professional corporation
Respondent.**

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

HILLIS CLARK MARTIN & PETERSON P.S.
Louis D. Peterson, WSBA #5776
Michael R. Scott, WSBA #12822
Alexander M. Wu, WSBA #40649
999 Third Avenue, Suite 4600

I. INTRODUCTION

After a thorough analysis of the record, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the dismissal of Norton's claims on summary judgment. The undisputed evidence in the record established Norton knew or should have known of his claims against Graham & Dunn by no later than September 2009. By then, he had become a member of the Steering Committee, he had discussed asserting claims against Graham & Dunn with other members of the Steering Committee, he had (as a member of the Steering Committee) hired attorney Steve Sirianni's firm for the purpose of investigating claims against Graham & Dunn, and the Sirianni firm had received Graham & Dunn documents relied upon in the claims Norton later asserted in his complaint.

Although Norton testified he never saw the Graham & Dunn documents the Sirianni firm collected, Norton admits he knew the firm had received those documents. Although he further testified he had no reason to believe the documents supported his claims against Graham & Dunn, he offered no explanation for how he formed this belief without ever seeing the documents.

Regardless of what Norton knew about the documents, he waited more than three years to sue Graham & Dunn. During those three years, Norton pursued a litigation strategy against other parties that recovered him \$6.75 million, more than half of his investment losses.

Norton waited until April 2013 to sue Graham & Dunn. He offered no evidence of any diligence on his behalf in pursuing his claims against Graham & Dunn. He did not seek copies of the Graham & Dunn documents from the Sirianni firm. He did not seek copies of the documents from the Steering Committee. He did not seek copies of the documents from the NDG employees who discovered de Guzman's Ponzi scheme and reported it to NDG's investors and law enforcement. In summary, he did nothing to investigate or pursue his claims against Graham & Dunn between September 2009 and April 2013.

Norton now argues this case presents two issues of substantial public importance under RAP 13.4(b)(4). First, he argues the case is important because it determines the time when a plaintiff's claim against lawyers representing another

party begins to accrue. This question is neither new nor of substantial public importance: a plaintiff's claim accrues when the plaintiff knows, or through the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, of facts giving rise to the plaintiff's claim. This well-established formulation of the discovery rule applies whether or not the defendant is a law firm.

Second, Norton argues this case is of substantial public importance because the Court of Appeals unfairly imputed the Sirianni firm's knowledge to him. According to Norton, the Rules of Professional Conduct precluded the Sirianni firm from sharing the Graham & Dunn documents with him. The Court should disregard Norton's argument because he failed to raise it before either the trial court or the Court of Appeals and because it assumes facts not present in this case. Specifically, Norton's argument assumes (1) he could only get the Graham & Dunn documents from the Sirianni firm, and (2) he tried to get copies of the documents from the Sirianni firm and was refused. Neither assumption is true. The record shows Norton could have obtained the Graham & Dunn documents from several sources: the Sirianni firm, the Steering Committee, or the

whistleblowing NDG employees. The record also shows he did not seek copies from any of these sources. Norton's argument that he could not obtain copies of the documents from these sources misses the point: *he never asked for them.*

This case does not present any issues of substantial public interest. Instead, this case is nothing more than another example of a plaintiff's failure to diligently pursue his claims, thereby letting them expire. The Court should deny Norton's petition for discretionary review.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As he has done consistently throughout his appellate briefing, Norton mischaracterizes or omits significant portions of the record to suit his needs. The Court of Appeals presents a more accurate and comprehensive analysis of the record in its decision affirming the trial court's dismissal of Norton's claims. Graham & Dunn will limit its discussion here to those portions of the record necessary to address Norton's arguments.

A. Graham & Dunn Did Not Know of de Guzman's Ponzi Scheme.

Throughout his petition, Norton repeatedly and brazenly states that Graham & Dunn knew of de Guzman's Ponzi scheme

and intentionally assisted in it. *E.g.*, Pet. at 3, 5, 14-15. These statements are false, offensive, and not supported by the evidence. After 18 months for discovery, Norton failed to find *any* evidence suggesting Graham & Dunn knew of de Guzman's Ponzi scheme. Instead of offering evidence, Norton relies entirely on allegations in the complaint filed by the Steering Committee investors (the "Aggen complaint") taken out of context. *See id* (citing to CP 518-19, 548-49). However, mere allegations may not be considered on summary judgment.¹ Only facts that would be admissible at trial may be considered when ruling on summary judgment.²

The undisputed evidence in the record shows Graham & Dunn did not learn of suspicions de Guzman might be engaged in fraud until April 10, 2009 at the earliest. CP 515, 1012-17. The firm promptly advised de Guzman to cooperate fully with the investigation undertaken by NDG's employees and terminated its representation soon thereafter. CP 514-15.

¹ CR 56(e) ("When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, *an adverse party may not rest upon mere allegations* or denials of his pleading . . .") (emphasis added).

² *See id.*; *see also Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc.*, 110 Wn.2d 355, 359, 753 P.2d 517 (1988).

B. Norton Learned of de Guzman's Ponzi Scheme in March 2009.

In March 2009, Norton learned de Guzman had defrauded investors, including him, by taking investor money for personal use. In his March 11, 2009 email, Bill Prater told Norton:

Glenn [Fulton, the Vice President of NDG] has confirmed that Jose [Nino de Guzman] has admitted to have been running a financial house of cards. . . . **Jose has used [investor] funds in a variety of ways. These have ranged from financing his personal extravagant lifestyle to repaying investors in previous deals.** Very sad and I wish it was not true. The number of disclosures from Jose keep [sic] growing and none are good. **He has proven himself to be a very accomplished liar and con man.**

CP 1019 (emphasis added).

NDG's employees waited another month before expressing concerns regarding de Guzman to Graham & Dunn through their attorney, Chris Wells. CP 1312-16, 1012-17. On April 10, 2009, Wells wrote a letter to Graham & Dunn informing the firm of the NDG employees' concerns. CP 1012-17. In the letter, Wells noted that the NDG employees had engaged the firm of Blank Law + Tech to copy the contents of the NDG employees' computer hard drives. CP 1015. Norton's lawyers, Jay Hadley and Roger Mellem at the firm of Ryan Swanson &

Cleveland, were copied on the letter. CP 1017 (relevant page of letter), CP 960 (Hadley's representation of Norton).

C. Norton Discussed Suing Graham & Dunn in June 2009.

After NDG employees disclosed the existence of de Guzman's fraud to investors, Norton accepted an invitation to join the Steering Committee formed to lead investor recovery efforts. CP 965, 495.

In June 2009, Norton and other members of the Steering Committee discussed options to recover the money lost in de Guzman's scheme. CP 1021-23. Norton himself proposed suing Graham & Dunn, among others. *Id.* In his June 11, 2009 email to the Steering Committee, Norton stated:

It doesn't make sense to try to recover monies from [NDG's Peruvian affiliate Grupo] Innova (gross sent down) if they have already returned some to the US. The monies already returned to the US have to be claimed against the US defendants and Innova should be held accountable for the money they retained and used. In turn the "Innova" monies returned from Peru to the US should be **added to the US claim against Jose/NDG/G&D** and US Bank, as those funds were mishandled/misused "after" they returned to the US.

CP 1021 (emphasis added) (Norton used “G&D” to refer to Graham & Dunn, CP 496).

D. The Steering Committee (Including Norton) Investigated Claims Against Graham & Dunn.

The Steering Committee organized an investor fund to finance recovery efforts. CP 1334, CP 496. The Steering Committee engaged Steve Sirianni’s firm to represent the investors. CP 496. Norton participated in interviewing and retaining Sirianni. *Id.* On July 2, 2009, the Steering Committee directed investors to contribute money to the recovery fund. CP 999. On July 10, 2009, Norton paid \$24,000 to the Sirianni firm as his contribution. CP 968, 1001, 1003. Although Norton now claims the purpose of the fund was to investigate the responsibility of U.S. Bank, not Graham & Dunn (Pet. at 16), he described the purpose of the recovery fund differently in his August 2010 statement:

I had originally invested in a U.S. recovery investor fund that was put together by the Steering Committee to finance an investigation and recovery effort, **primarily focused on the responsibility of U.S. Bank and NDG’s attorneys Graham & Dunn**, a law firm in Seattle.

CP 1334 (emphasis added).

Throughout the summer of 2009, the Sirianni firm cooperated with Wells and the NDG employees to obtain copies of Graham & Dunn's documents. In late June 2009, Sirianni drafted a letter to Graham & Dunn's Nick Drader (to be signed by NDG Vice President Glenn Fulton) and an email to Drader (to be sent by Wells) requesting copies of NDG-related documents from Graham & Dunn. CP 1025-27, 1029-31, 1039.

Graham & Dunn provided copies of many of its emails regarding NDG to Wells on July 17, 2009. CP 670-73. Wells forwarded copies of the documents to Sirianni on July 20, 2009. CP 715. Included in these documents were ten of the attorney-client privileged communications between Graham & Dunn and NDG quoted in the *Aggen* complaint and incorporated by reference by Norton in his complaint against Graham & Dunn. CP 2, 539-40, 543-45, 548, 674-713. Six of these privileged communications show the lateness of NDG's Form D filings. CP 674-697, 710-13. When reviewing the Graham & Dunn documents, the Sirianni firm targeted privileged emails about NDG's late Form D filings. *See, e.g.*, CP 1043-59, 1072-77

(copies of Graham & Dunn emails printed by lawyers at the Sirianni firm and produced in response to a subpoena).

E. Norton Left the Steering Committee and Made No Effort to Obtain the Graham & Dunn Documents.

Norton and the Steering Committee could not reach an agreement about a fair division of any monetary recovery that might be achieved by suing the target defendants. CP 497. Norton therefore left the Steering Committee. He could not recall precisely when he left the Steering Committee (see CP 497, 965-66), but he received checks refunding his financial contribution to the recovery fund by letter dated September 9, 2009 (CP 1005-1010). When Norton and the Steering Committee parted ways, the Committee told Norton he might wish to file a parallel lawsuit, and offered to cooperate with him to maximize recoveries. CP 1005-06.

F. Norton Pursued Claims Against Other Parties Associated with NDG.

Instead of pursuing claims against Graham & Dunn as he had originally contemplated, Norton sued the other parties he listed in his June 11, 2009 email. Of the \$10,971,723 Norton invested in NDG projects (CP 13), he recovered \$6,000,000 from

an arbitration award against NDG's Peruvian affiliate, Grupo Innova, and \$750,000 from the sale of an additional property recovered in Peru. CP 14 (alleging arbitration against Grupo Innova), 1345-46 (brief discussing Norton's recoveries), 1336-41 (judgment accounting for Norton's recoveries). In October 2010, Norton commenced a lawsuit against U.S. Bank, de Guzman, and NDG, asserting claims for breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, violation of the Washington State Securities Act, aiding and abetting fraud, aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, and other claims. CP 206-24. In August 2011, Norton commenced a lawsuit against Prater alleging breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, violation of the Washington State Securities Act, aiding and abetting fraud, aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, and other claims. CP 226-45.

During the course of litigating these cases, Norton never used the tools of discovery to obtain documents or other information from (1) the Sirianni firm, (2) the Steering Committee investors, or (3) the NDG employees who preserved NDG's documents. *See* CP 490-503 (Norton's declaration, making no mention of any effort to obtain documents or

information from those sources); CP 504-644 (same regarding Norton's lawyer).

G. The Steering Committee Investors Filed a Lawsuit Against Graham & Dunn in July 2012.

While Norton pursued these other recovery opportunities, the Steering Committee diligently used the documents provided by Graham & Dunn in July 2009 to prepare the *Aggen* complaint against the firm. *See* CP 517-54 (the *Aggen* complaint); CP 674-713 (ten documents quoted in the *Aggen* complaint that were provided by Graham & Dunn in July 2009). The *Aggen* plaintiffs obtained additional documents from the NDG employees' computer hard drives, which were made available to the Steering Committee by the time Norton joined that group. *See* CP 549, 1012-17, 1322. The *Aggen* plaintiffs filed their complaint on July 23, 2012, asserting claims for violation of the Washington State Securities Act, aiding and abetting fraud, aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, conspiracy to commit fraud, and conspiracy to breach fiduciary duties. CP 517, 550-54.

H. Norton Waited Until April 2013 to Commence His Lawsuit Against Graham & Dunn.

Norton commenced this lawsuit on April 11, 2013, nine months after the *Aggen* complaint was filed. CP 1-29. Norton modeled his complaint on the *Aggen* complaint, *cf.* CP 1-29 and CP 517-54, a fact Norton admits, Pet. at 6. As he did in his other lawsuits, Norton asserted claims for breach of fiduciary duty, violation of the Washington State Securities Act, aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, aiding and abetting fraud, and other claims. CP 19-26.

I. The Trial Court Dismissed Norton's Claims on Summary Judgment, and the Court of Appeals Affirmed.

Eighteen months after Norton filed his complaint, Graham & Dunn moved for summary judgment to dismiss all of Norton's claims as barred by the three-year statutes of limitations. CP 42-52. The King County Superior Court granted Graham & Dunn's motion for summary judgment and dismissed all of Norton's claims. CP 717-28. Norton moved for reconsideration, which the trial court denied. CP 729-42. The Washington State Court of Appeals affirmed in a unanimous unpublished decision. *Norton v. Graham & Dunn, P.C.*,

no. 72818-1-I, slip op. at 41 (Wash. Ct. App. April 18, 2016) (hereinafter “Slip Op.”, a copy of which is attached as Appendix A).

III. ARGUMENT

The Court should deny Norton’s petition for discretionary review because it does not raise any issues of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This case is merely an example of a plaintiff who failed to exercise diligence and let his claims expire. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court’s dismissal of Norton’s claims.

A. **The Court of Appeals Did Not Conflate the Accrual of Norton’s Various Claims.**

Norton first argues the Court of Appeals conflated the accrual of Norton’s claims against de Guzman/NDG with the accrual of Norton’s claims against Graham & Dunn. Pet. at 7. However, the Court of Appeals expressly distinguished between those two classes of claims. Norton’s claims against de Guzman and NDG accrued by no later than **March 11, 2009**, when Bill Prater told Norton that de Guzman had used NDG to run a Ponzi scheme. Slip Op. at 30-31 (quoting from CP 1019). The Court of Appeals then analyzed, at length, the factual basis for

Norton's claims against Graham & Dunn for securities fraud under the Washington State Securities Act, and for aiding and abetting fraud. Slip Op. at 31-37. It was on the basis of this separate analysis the Court of Appeals concluded Norton's claims against Graham & Dunn accrued by no later than **September 2009**. Slip Op. at 29-30, 37. The Court of Appeals did not conflate the limitations periods for Norton's claims against de Guzman/NDG and his claims against Graham & Dunn.

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